TGEGKXGF."3414814235"342556."Iqj p'C0Vqo culpq."Ergtm"Uvr tgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-1470

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 16-1991-CF-8144-AXXX

KENNETH HARTLEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT
Florida Bar No. 0102857
McClain & McDermott, P.A.
20301 Grande Oak Blvd
Suite 118-61
Estero, FL 33928
(850) 322-2172

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

____Mr. Hartley was indicted with the first-degree murder of Gino Mayhew, armed burglary, and aggravated assault (R. 1016).

Mr. Hartley was found guilty on August 27, 1993 (R. 1016).

Mr. Hartley's jury recommended a sentence of death by a 9 to 3

vote on September 9, 1993. Mr. Hartley was sentenced to death on

December 9, 1993.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Hartley's convictions and sentences. <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 686 So. 2d 1316 (Fla. 1996).

During Mr. Hartley's initial postconviction proceedings, a series of Rule 3.850 motions were filed. The first motion was a shell motion filed by the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - North. Later, Mr. Hartley's appointed counsel, Jefferson Morrow, filed amended motions. During Mr. Hartley's postconviction evidentiary hearing, Morrow was removed from Mr. Hartley's case

based on information from Mr. Hartley that Morrow demanded payment from Mr. Hartley's family² in order to do further work while also being paid by the state as Registry Counsel. Mr. Hartley was not permitted to be present at that hearing.

Subsequently, Mr. Hartley privately retained counsel to represent him (PC-R. 2384-94). The trial court held a hearing on three of Mr. Hartley's postconviction claims: trial counsel's failure to 1) call certain witnesses in the penalty phase; 2) prepare for the penalty phase, and 3) use a mental health expert. After the evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied relief.

Mr. Hartley appealed to this Court. This Court denied all relief on May 22, 2008. <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 990 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 2008).

Mr. Hartley filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida on October 7, 2008. That petition is still pending.

On November 22, 2010, Mr. Hartley filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based on the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Porter v. McCollum, 559 U.S. 30 (2009). The circuit court denied Mr. Hartley's motion.

Mr. Hartley appealed the decision to this Court. On May 31, 2012, this Court affirmed the denial of relief. Hartley v. State,

²At the time Morrow represented Mr. Hartley in postconviction, his brother, Shawn Jefferson, played professional football in the NFL.

91 So. 3d 848 (Fla. 2012).

While Mr. Hartley's appeal of his <u>Porter</u> claim was pending, he filed a Rule 3.851 motion relating to the imposition of a life sentence in Mr. Ferrell's case (PC-R3. 1-43).

Initially, the circuit court dismissed Mr. Hartley's motion based upon the fact that Mr. Hartley's appeal was pending before this Court (PC-R3. 68-70).

Mr. Hartley filed a motion for rehearing (PC-R3. 71-3), which was granted on January 20, 2012 (PC-R3. 74-6).

On September 10, 2012, a case management conference was held at which time Mr. Ferrell's record on appeal from his trial proceedings was admitted as Defense Exhibit 1. Mr. Hartley was also directed to file a memorandum identifying specific portions of Mr. Ferrell's record on appeal that established Mr. Ferrell was equally culpable in Gino Mayhew's homicide and to obtain the transcript of Mr. Ferrell's re-sentencing (PC-R3. 1796-8).

After the hearing, Mr. Hartley filed a memorandum regarding Mr. Ferrell's record on appeal (PC-R3. 1811-23), and the transcript of Mr. Ferrell's re-sentencing (PC-R3. 1799-1810).

A subsequent case management conference was held on March 21, 2013, (SPC-R3. 48-67), at which Mr. Hartley introduced Mr. Ferrell's revised judgement and sentence reflecting that Mr. Ferrell was re-sentenced to life imprisonment on December 9, 2010 (PC-R3. 1906-12), and the transcript of Mr. Ferrell's re-

sentencing (PC-R4. 1913-22).

On June 21, 2013, the circuit court denied Mr. Hartley's Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R3. 1923-33).

A timely notice of appeal was filed (PC-R3. 1934-5).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. MR. HARTLEY'S TRIAL

Mr. Hartley, along with Ronnie Ferrell and Sylvester

Johnson, was charged by indictment with first-degree murder of

Gino Mayhew, armed burglary and aggravated assault (R. 1016).

The three were tried separately and were each convicted of first degree murder, robbery and kidnapping (R. 1016). Mr. Hartley and

Mr. Ferrell were sentenced to death while Mr. Johnson was sentenced to life in prison (R. 1016).

Gino Mayhew, the victim, was a 17 year old drug dealer who carried a sawed off shotgun in the back seat of his Chevrolet Blazer (T. 2008-9; 2069). On the evening of April 22, 1991, he parked his car in the Washington Heights apartments in Jacksonville, a particularly dangerous area of town, to sell crack cocaine (T. 2069, 2106). Sidney Jones, 33 years of age and a six time convicted felon, was a friend of Mayhew's and was helping him sell drugs by flagging down people who might be going to other dealers that were also in the vicinity (T. 2069-70). Jones took the rock that Mayhew offered him in exchange for his services and after walking a short distance, Jones realized that

the rock was smaller than what he and Mayhew had agreed on earlier in the day (T. 2073).

Jones, who at the time of the trial was in custody at the Duval County Jail, testified that he headed back to the vehicle and saw Hartley, Ferrell and Johnson near the blazer and that Mr. Hartley was holding a gun (T. 2077). Jones said that he saw Mr. Hartley force Mayhew into the driver's seat and that Mr. Hartley climbed in the backseat behind Mayhew (T. 2077). Mr. Ferrell was in the front passenger seat and Sylvester Johnson left in a separate vehicle, heading in the same direction (R. 2077).

Jones expected that his good friend Mayhew was about to be murdered, but instead of calling the police, Jones returned home and smoked the crack that Mayhew had just paid him with (T. 2090; T 2116-7). Jones was a confidential informant and had the beeper number for the officer whom he was assisting with an investigation of Mayhew's drug dealing but he did not call the officer about Mayhew's abduction at gunpoint (T. 2091). Jones had been a paid confidential informant for the police since the 1970s and admitted that his attorney negotiated with the prosecutor and judge for a lesser sentence on his January 25, 1993, armed robbery arrest (T. 2098-9). Jones stated that there were other witnesses to Mayhew's abduction that did not come

³Jones received a fifteen-month sentence on a March 11, 1985, charge of carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (T. 2101).

forward, but he refused to provide their names (T. 2114). Jones also admitted to lying in his deposition taken prior to trial (T. 2119). Since Jones' arrest for trespassing, he was also charged with armed robbery for which he received a year in prison (T. 2094).

Witness Juan Brown, a two time convicted felon and good friend of Mayhew's, testified that he was driving in his car with two friends and saw Mayhew driving his blazer with Mr. Ferrell in the passenger seat and a "light skinned black male" in the backseat (T. 2136-7). Brown never identified the person sitting behind Mayhew in the Blazer (T. 2136-7). Brown followed Mayhew's blazer, but eventually lost him as he headed in the direction of Sherwood Park Elementary School (T. 2136-7). At the time of Mr. Hartley's trial, Brown was actually being held for contempt because he failed to appear for a trial preparation session with the prosecutor on Mr. Hartley's case (T. 2149). Brown did not come forward but was contacted in May or June of 1991 by detectives (T. 2145). Police never asked him about his two friends who were traveling in his car with him that night and also saw Mayhew's car (T. 2144).

The next day Mayhew's body was discovered in the car at Sherwood Park with six gunshot wounds to the head (T. 2038). Hartley, Johnson, and Ferrell were arrested about three weeks later (T. 2038).

The State presented its theory of how the shooting occurred through the medical examiner. The state also presented three witnesses in addition to Jones and Brown that inculpated Mr. Hartley. Mr. Hartley's conviction relied completely on the credibility of these witnesses as there was no direct evidence of Mr. Hartley's involvement.

At trial, Medical Examiner Lipkovic testified that Mayhew had six gun shot wounds (T. 2032). Lipkovic believed that the victim was seated in the driver's seat and the shots came from behind and somewhat to the right and the victim was turning around (T. 2054-5). On cross examination, Lipkovic conceded that the state's theory of the victim and shooter's positions at the time of the shooting was not the only possibility and that the victim could have been seated in the right hand seat and turning to the left based on the angle of the gunshot wounds (T. 2056).

Witness Anthony Parkin had five felony convictions and had pled guilty on July 12, 1991, to dealing in stolen property (T. 2182). At the time of trial, Parkin was in custody awaiting sentencing on that charge and on two violations of probation charges (T. 2182). A week after Parkin watched a televised bond hearing that showed Mr. Hartley and his co-defendant, he contacted detectives with information that he had regarding Gino Mayhew's murder (T. 2189; 2199). Parkin told police, and later the jury, that he overheard Mr. Hartley confessing to another

inmate and that Mr. Hartley also confessed to him directly (T. 2190). The felony that Parkin was awaiting sentencing on at the time of Mr. Hartley's trial exposed him to a thirty-year sentence and possible habitual offender status (T. 2207). However, after agreeing to testify for the prosecution, Parkin's plea agreement specified that he would not receive more than fifteen years concurrent on two charges and would not be sentenced as a habitual offender (T. 2183). The judge had passed on sentencing Parkin numerous times prior to Mr. Hartley's trial in order to verify that he testified "truthfully" against Mr. Hartley.

State witness Ronald Bronner, a four time convicted felon, was awaiting sentencing on a cocaine trafficking charge at the time of Mr. Hartley's trial (T. 2218). He was arrested on September 11, 1991, and was placed in a cell with Mr. Hartley (T. 2227). On October 1, 1991, Bronner received notice of the state's intent to prosecute him as a career criminal and the following day, October 2, 1992, Bronner received notice that the state was seeking habitual offender status on him (T. 2237). Bronner testified that Mr. Hartley confessed to murdering Gino a week later during recreation (T. 2227). Bronner ultimately entered into a plea agreement with the prosecutor. Under the agreement, the prosecutor withdrew the habitual offender motion and the maximum sentence was reduced to twenty-five years, but Bronner understood that the sentence could be anything less than

that (T. 2229). Sentencing was delayed on Bronner's guilty plea until the conclusion of Mr. Hartley's capital trial (T. 2252).

State witness Eric Brooks, a two time convicted felon, was in jail awaiting sentencing on armed robbery when he testified against Mr. Hartley (T. 2254). Brooks was placed in the jail on August 26, 1991, in the same section as Mr. Hartley (T. 2259). A few days later, Mr. Hartley denied killing Mayhew in a conversation during recreation (T. 2260). Brooks testified that sometime later, in October, Mr. Hartley confessed to shooting Mayhew in the back of the head "a few times." (T. 2262). Brooks initially was not going to go to authorities but changed his mind because he was turned off by Mr. Hartley's allegedly "bragging" about murdering Mayhew (T. 2263).

Just like Bronner, Brooks entered into a plea agreement with prosecutors on November 14, 1991. In exchange for his testimony against Hartley, Brooks would not be classified as a habitual offender, would get a thirty-year maximum sentence and the three year minimum mandatory sentence was waived (T. 2255). Sentencing was delayed until after Mr. Hartley's trial (T. 2256).

⁴After testifying against Hartley, Bronner was sentenced to three years at Florida State Prison, however he was never sent to prison and was given two years time served and released from the Duval County Pre-Trial Detention Center (PC-R. 977-8).

⁵After testifying against Mr. Hartley, Brooks was sentenced to three years at Florida State Prison, however he was never sent to prison and was given two years time served and released from the Duval County Pre-Trial Detention Center (PC-R. 977-8).

Mr. Hartley's trial counsel, Robert Willis, presented no guilt phase witnesses. The jury convicted Mr. Hartley, as charged.

At the penalty phase, trial counsel presented the testimony of Alan Chipperfield and one lay witness. Assistant Public Defender Chipperfield testified as a sentencing expert about the incarceration assurance of the fifteen and twenty-five year mandatory minimum sentences.

The Reverend Coley Williams, the Hartley family's pastor, testified that Mr. Hartley had a quiet and peaceful spirit, attended church on and off, came from a good family and was intelligent. <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 686 So. 2d 1316, 1319 (Fla. 1996).

After Reverend Williams concluded his brief testimony, the entirety of the mitigation evidence, Willis rested the defense case. The prosecutor, apparently surprised that no expert testimony had been presented regarding the important mental health mitigators, asked the trial judge to determine why no such evidence was being presented (R. 2554-5). Willis then explained "we are aware that the Court entered an Order transporting him for that purpose we did not request that it be done" and that his was a reasoned decision (R. 2554-5).

The state presented Detective Steve Higginbotham whose testimony outlined Mr. Hartley's January 19, 1987, conviction for manslaughter for shooting Angel McCormick in the chest with a

shotgun (T. 2465). The state then presented Detective J.C.

Perret who detailed Mr. Hartley's April 19, 1991, arrest for

robbery and subsequent conviction. Mr. Hartley robbed a cab

driver (T. 2468-70). The state also presented Edward Saple,

another cab driver, who testified that Mr. Hartley robbed him at

gunpoint (T. 2480-6). That trial resulted in a conviction (T.

2480).

Not surprisingly, the court found minimal mitigation and sentenced Mr. Hartley to death.

II. MR. FERRELL'S TRIAL

The State's theory of the case at Mr. Ferrell's trial was largely consistent with the State's theory at Mr. Hartley's trial: Ronnie Ferrell used his friendship with Gino Mayhew to lure Mayhew to his death while Mr. Hartley was the "triggerman." Though the evidence differed slightly, in that, according to the State, Mr. Ferrell made statements to law enforcement and a jailhouse snitch, many of the witnesses who testified against Mr. Hartley also testified against Mr. Ferrell.

Throughout the State's case at Mr. Ferrell's trial, the prosecutor argued and presented a picture that Mr. Ferrell and Mr. Hartley were jointly responsible for the actions of one another and that Mr. Ferrell was at least equally as culpable as Mr. Hartley, if not more so, in the murder of Gino Mayhew.

A. Voir Dire

The State's theory of Mr. Ferrell's culpability was demonstrated from the very inception of it's case when the State charged Mr. Ferrell with first degree murder in an information that was read to the jury (PC-R3. 867-9).

In voir dire, the prosecutor began to flesh out the legal theory supporting the first degree murder charge by explaining the law of principals "... that if two or more people work together to help commit a crime, that each of the partners are responsible for what he does and for what his partner does." The prosecutor discussed the law of principals and felony murder with the prospective jurors and fielded questions from them about the concept (PC-R3. 1010-2). The defense also weighed in on these concepts during its voir dire of the jury (PC-R3. 1070-1). Thus, the jury was exposed early on to the idea that Mr. Ferrell was equally guilty and equally culpable for the victim's murder.

B. Opening Statements

The prosecutor's entire opening argument laid the groundwork for the State's theory that Mr. Ferrell premeditated with Mr. Hartley and Mr. Johnson to murder Gino Mayhew. The prosecutor explained the motive for murdering Mayhew was the trio's belief that Mayhew was seeking to retaliate for a robbery committed against him by Mr. Hartley and a masked man (PC-R3. 1128-9). The prosecutor then provided a brief preview of the evidence expected

from the State's witnesses. The prosecutor told the jury that Mayhew's murder was a "classic execution style killing." (PC-R3. 1130).

The prosecutor told the jury that: Lynwood Smith and Gene Felton would testify that Mayhew had been robbed two days prior to his murder by Mr. Hartley and a "masked man." (PC-R3. 1131). Felton would tell the jury about hearing Mr. Ferrell "bragging" about the prior robbery (PC-R3. 1131).

In addition, the prosecutor told the jury that: Sidney Jones was a witness to Mayhew's abduction and would identify Ferrell, Hartley and Johnson. Jones was the first to detail Mr. Ferrell's role in luring Mayhew to the car so that Mr. Hartley could force Mayhew into the car and then get in the back seat. Mr. Ferrell got into the front passenger seat. Jones would also tell the jury that Mr. Johnson stopped Mayhew's Blazer to speak to Mr. Hartley before the Blazer drove away (PC-R3. 1132-3). Jones saw Mr. Johnson get into a second car and follow in the direction of Mayhew's car, establishing Johnson as the "getaway driver." (PC-R3. 1135).

And, the prosecutor told the jury that Juan Brown, a friend of Mayhew's would corroborate Jones' testimony (PC-R3. 1135).

Brown saw Mayhew driving his Blazer towards the site of the murder, Mr. Ferrell was in the front passenger seat, and a "light skinned, black male" seated behind the driver's seat was

"crouched up very close to Gino, unusually close, almost as if he was talking in his ear." (PC-R3. 1136). The prosecutor told the jury that "the reason he was crouched up toward Gino is because he had that gun to his head telling him where to drive." (PC-R3. 1136). The prosecutor told the jury: "[t]he defendant and his partners executed Gino Mayhew that night." (PC-R3. 1137).

The prosecutor also stated that Mr. Ferrell confessed the entire plot to Robert Williams while the two were in the Duval County jail together. The plan to get Mayhew alone hinged on his friendship with Mr. Ferrell, because Mayhew would trust Mr. Ferrell to set up a drug transaction with him (PC-R3. 1138-9). According to the prosecutor, Williams would testify that Mr. Ferrell took the gold necklace off of Mayhew's neck and they took his drugs and money (PC-R3. 1159).

The prosecutor also attacked Mr. Ferrell's alibi testimony as flawed: Though Mr. Ferrell told police during two separate interviews prior to his arrest that he was with his wife at her mother's house at the time of the murders (PC-R3. 1142-3), Mr. Ferrell's wife and her mother would testify that Ferrell was not with them at the house at the time of the murder (PC-R3. 1143).

The prosecutor also discussed the law of principals with the jury:

Under the law of principals the State doesn't have to show that this defendant was the one that pulled the trigger or this defendant was the one that took the money from Gino. Under the law of principals if we show the defendant knew what was going to happen, that he intended to actively participate, and if he did something to help carry out that crime, that the law considered him doing everything that his partners did. And the reason I mention that you is as you listen to all the evidence, look for the evidence that shows how this defendant knew what was going to happen, intended to actively participate and actually did something to help.

(PC-R3. 1144) (emphasis added).

During the defense's opening argument, Mr. Ferrell's trial counsel attempted to minimize Mr. Ferrell's role, stating that the State is not even making the allegation that Mr. Ferrell was the one who actually killed Mayhew (PC-R3. 1149). He told the jury that mere presence at the scene does not make someone a principal (PC-R3. 1149).

C. Witness Testimony

The testimony regarding Mr. Ferrell's role in the crimes unfolded before the jury: Officer Duckworth responded to the scene and described Mayhew's gunshot wounds (PC-R3. 1155-62). Likewise, Detective Bolena testified about the scene, the Blazer, the bullet wounds and the drug paraphernalia found on the seat. (Based on this testimony, during closing arguments, the prosecutor argued that the bullet wounds demonstrated that Mr. Ferrell premeditated Mayhew's murder (PC-R3. 1527)).

Trial counsel elicited testimony that no physical evidence linking Mr. Ferrell to the car or the scene existed (PC-R3. 1187). However, on re-direct, the prosecutor made the point that

fingerprints would not have been significant because Mayhew and Mr. Ferrell were "close friends" (PC-R3. 1188).

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