IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH HARTLEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC13-1470

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

PATRICK M. DELANEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 85824

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 Primary E-Mail: capapp@myfloridalegal.com Secondary E-Mail: Patrick.Delaney@myfloridalegal.com (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4583 (850) 487-0997 (FAX) COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Hartley asserts that his co-defendant's life sentence constitutes newly discovered evidence and because the trial judge in Ferrell's case determined both parties were equally culpable that he is therefore entitled to a life sentence. (IB/p. 31). The trial court considered Hartley's claim under the rubric of newly discovered evidence and denied relief because the "record clearly shows that [Hartley] was the shooter, and that Ferrell was not a dominating force behind the murder; therefore, [Hartley] and Ferrell were not equally culpable." (PCR3 – Vol. 10/p. 1930 – 1931). In addition, the trial court found Hartley's case to be more aggravated. As such, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of relief.

Standard of Review

A claim of newly discovered evidence based on the co-defendant receiving a life sentence is evaluated under the two-part test outlined in the Florida Supreme Court's opinion in *Stein v. State*, 995 So. 2d 329, 341 (Fla. 2008).

For evidence to be considered newly discovered and sufficient to set aside a conviction, two requirements must be met:

First, in order to be considered newly discovered, the evidence "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by the use of due diligence." Second, the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.

Specifically, for a defendant to succeed on a claim that a death sentence must be set aside because of a codefendant's subsequent life sentence the defendant must show: '1) the life sentence could not have been known to the parties by the use of due diligence at the time of trial; and 2) the codefendant's life sentence would probably result in a life sentence for the defendant on retrial.

Stein, 995 So. 2d at 341 (citing *Ventura v. State*, 794 So. 2d 553, 570 – 571 (Fla. 2001). In addition, as this Court has recognized, "[a] trial court's determination concerning the relative culpability of the co-perpetrators in a first-degree murder case is a finding of fact and will be sustained on review if supported by competent substantial evidence." *Puccio v. State*, 701 So.2d 858, 860 (Fla.1997).

Ferrell's Life Sentence was Unknown to Hartley

Hartley was sentenced to death for the murder of Gino Mayhew on December 9, 1993. (Direct Appeal – Vol. 72/p. 2683 – 2686). It is undisputed that neither Hartley nor his counsel could have known about Ferrell's life sentence through the use of due diligence, because Ferrell's life sentence was pronounced 17 years later. (PCR3 – Vol. 10/p. 1839 – 1840). Therefore, Hartley meets the first prong of the test under *Stein* and the question turns on whether or not Ferrell's life sentence would have resulted in a life sentence for Hartley on retrial.

Unlikely Hartley Would Receive a Life Sentence

"When a codefendant . . . is equally as culpable or more culpable than the defendant, disparate treatment of the codefendant may render the defendant's

punishment disproportionate." *Larzelere v. State*, 676 So. 2d 394, 406 (Fla. 1996). However, where the circumstances indicate the defendant is more culpable than the co-defendant, or the dominating force behind the murder, then disparate treatment is permissible despite the codefendant's sentence. *See Marquad v. State*, 820 So. 2d 417, 423 (Fla. 2002); *see also Brown v. State*, 721 So. 2d 274, 282 (Fla. 1998). In addition, this Court has "rejected relative culpability arguments where the defendant sentenced to death was the 'triggerman.'" *See, e.g., Ventura v. State*, 794 So. 2d 553, 571 (Fla. 2001) (finding codefendants not equally culpable where a codefendant hired Ventura to kill the victim, but Ventura was the triggerman).

In the instant case, Hartley argues that because Ferrell has received a life sentence, he too is entitled to life sentence because Ferrell was equally culpable. (IB/p. 32 - 34, 43). The foundation of Hartley's argument lies within: (1) statements made by the prosecution during voir dire; (2) statements made by the prosecution during opening; (3) the closing arguments of the prosecution during Ferrell's trial; (4) the prosecution's reliance on the law of principals; (5) the trial court's original sentencing order dated December 17, 1993; and (6) portions of the Florida Supreme Court's opinion on direct appeal.

First, statements or arguments made by the prosecution during voir dire, opening, and closing arguments are not evidence and do not constitute a finding of fact by the trial court. In addition, the prosecutor's statements during voir dire and arguments are not newly discovered evidence. Any claim of a violation of due process due to inconsistent theories of prosecution is procedurally barred because it was available during Hartley's direct appeal and could have been raised years ago. *See Bradshaw v. Stumpf*, 545 U.S. 175, 187 – 188 (2005) (finding that inconsistent theories of prosecution as to the identity of the shooter did not invalidate the defendant's plea); *Raleigh v. State*, 932 So. 2d 1054, 1065 – 1067 (Fla. 2006). Outside of Ferrell's life sentence, none of the statements Hartley is attempting to use to bolster his claim constitute newly discovered evidence. Hartley therefore, is improperly melding a claim of inconsistent theory of prosecution with a claim of newly discovered evidence. The only relevant new evidence that this Court should consider is that Ferrell has now received a life sentence.

Second, the theory of the prosecution was consistent within both Hartley's trial and Ferrell's trial – Ferrell played a significant role in the robbery, kidnapping, and murder of Gino Mayhew, but Hartley was the actual shooter. Third, while the trial court and this Court previously stated that Hartley and Ferrell were equally culpable, Hartley's argument ignores the fact that he was the triggerman.

Hartley was the Triggerman

This court has rejected relative culpability arguments where the defendant sentenced to death was in fact the triggerman. *See Blake v. State*, 972 So. 2d 839 (2007). In the instant case, the record clearly and conclusively shows that Hartley was both the triggerman, and the dominating force behind the murder of Gino

Mayhew.

When Gino Mayhew was kidnapped, a witness saw Hartley hold a gun to Mayhew's head and force him into the driver's seat of the victim's Chevrolet Blazer. *Hartley*, 686 So. 2d at 1318. This same witness testified that when the Blazer sped away he heard Ferrell "shout out of the Blazer that the victim would 'be back;" which shows that Ferrell lacked intent to kill Mayhew. *Id*.

At least two witnesses testified to statements Hartley made regarding the murder while he was in jail awaiting trial. Id. at 1318 - 1319. Hartley told one cellmate "I left my trade mark, left no witnesses'; and that his trademark was to 'shoot the person in the head leaving no witnesses."" Id. at 1318. Hartley also told the cellmate "that Ferrell and Johnson acted so nervous that he considered shooting" them and that he would 'get off' because everyone was too scared to testify;" which highlights Hartley's domination over his co-defendants. Id. at 1318. Many of the details these witnesses testified to were never released to the public. Id. at 1319. In addition, Hartley told a different cellmate that "he had robbed and murdered the victim and provided numerous details of the crime very similar to those provided by the previous witness." Id. at 1319. Furthermore, the testimony of Ronald Bronner, a jail informant and childhood acquaintance of Hartely, indicated that while the initial plan was formed between the group; Hartley directed the actions of both Ferrell and Johnson in kidnapping, robbing, and murdering Mayhew; again showing Hartley's leadership in the murder. (Direct Appeal - Vol. 68/2217 - 2230). Moreover, Ferrell's life sentence was predicated on a statement under oath that he in fact was not the shooter. (PCR3 – Vol. 10/1837, 1839 - 1840; Appendix 1). The testimony of these witnesses definitively shows Hartely as the triggerman and dominant force in the murder of Gino Mayhew.

As such, Hartley's case is comparable to Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144 (1998). In Jennings v. State, Jennings was convicted and sentenced to death for the robbery and murder of three restaurant employees. Jennings, 718 So. 2d at 145. Jennings and his codefendant, Graves, had previously worked in the restaurant, and together plotted the robbery. Id. at 145. The victims had all been stabbed and had their throats cut. Id. at 145. Jennings told police following his arrest "I think I could have been the killer. In my mind I could have killed them, but in my heart I don't think I could have." Id. at 146. In addition, witnesses testified that on occasions prior to the murder, Jennings spoke of robbing the restaurant and "not leaving any witnesses." Id. at 146. Graves was also convicted as charged and received a life sentence. Jennings, 718 So. 2d at 153. On direct appeal this Court denied Jennings' claim of a disparate sentence when compared to Graves because the record supported the finding that Jennings was the actual killer and therefore more culpable than Graves.

Jennings also argued for equal culpability between himself and Graves, based on the States' argument during Graves' trial that Graves was the "leader" of the robbery. *Id.* at 154. This Court was not swayed by Jennings' argument because ultimately the State took the same position in both trials – Graves was the leader of the robbery and Jennings was the actual killer. *Jennings*, 718 So. 2d at 154. Ultimately, this court stated "[t]he fact that the eighteen-year-old codefendant received life does not prevent the imposition of the death penalty on Jennings, whom the trial court found to be the actual killer and to be more culpable." *Id.* at 154.

Similarily, in *Ventura v. State*, the defendant was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death. *Ventura*, 794 So. 2d at 558. The defendant was hired to kill the victim after a group of men conspired to commit the murder in order to obtain the insurance policy held by the victim. *Id.* at 558. Ventura scouted the location for the murder, set a meeting with the victim, drove with the victim to the location, and then shot the victim multiple times. *Id.* at 558. Wright, the leader of the conspiracy, received a life sentence which was affirmed on appeal roughly a year following the Florida Supreme Court's decision to affirm Ventura's life sentence. *Id.* at 571. Ventura filed a 3.850 claim and alleged that Wright's life sentence constituted newly discovered evidence which entitled him to a life sentence as well. *Id.* at 571. On appeal, this Court held that Ventura was not

entitled to relief given than he was the triggerman and therefore was not equally culpable to his co-defendants. *Id.* at 571.

Likewise, in Marguard v. State, 850 So. 2d 417 (2002), Marguard and his codefendant, Abshire, conspired to kill a young woman who had accompanied them to Florida. Marguard, 850 So. 2d at 422. Marguard confessed to the murder and told police he remembered "standing over her body with a knife in hand." Id. Abshire testified and gave a grisly account of the murder. Id. During this testimony, Abshire admitted to stabbing the victim and attempting to decapitate her with Marquard's help. Id. at 422. Marquard was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death. Id. Abshire was tried separately, found guilty of first degree murder and also sentenced to death. Id. "This Court subsequently reversed Abshire's conviction and vacated his death sentence based on the fact that during Abshire's trial," the prosecution discriminated against jurors based on their gender. Id. at 422. "On remand Abshire received a life sentence." Id. at 422. Marquard filed a 3.850 claim and asserted that Abshire's life sentence constituted newly discovered evidence which, when combined with Abshire's admission of participation in the murder, entitled him to a life sentence as well. This Court disagreed with Marquard because the trial court made a determination that he was the more culpable of the two parties and therefore he was not entitled to relief. *Marquard*, 850 So. 2d at 423 – 424.

20

Hartley relies on this Court's decision in Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (1992), to support his position that when a co-defendant's sentence is commuted to life, then an equally culpable co-defendant must receive like treatment. This reasoning though is misplaced and based on an incomplete comparison of Scott and Hartley's case. In Scott the co-defendant received a life sentence following a jury recommendation. Scott, 604 So. 2d at 468. As such, it was a fact finder who determined the co-defendant's punishment. Furthermore, this Court in Scott based its decision to commute Scott's death sentence not only because of their equal culpability, but also because Scott and his co-defendant had: (1) similar criminal records; (2) were approximately the same age; (3) had comparable low IQs; and (4) determined that it "was not a case where Scott was the 'triggerman' and Robinson [co-defendant] a mere unwitting accomplice along for the ride." Scott, 604 So. 2d at 468.

In the present case, Ferrell's life sentence was the result of prosecutorial discretion, and as such his case is not comparable to *Scott*. Furthermore, while Ferrell was an integral part in planning and gaining the trust of the victim, it was Hartley who was the leader of the robbery, kidnapping, and murder of Gino Mayhew. The trial court in this case also determined that Hartley was the more culpable party since he was the shooter, and because Ferrell was not a dominating force behind the murder. (PCR3 – Vol. 10/p. 1930 – 1931). Therefore, this court

21

should affirm the trial court's order denying Hartley any relief.

Hartley's Case is More Aggravated

Should this Court review the aggravators and mitigators in Hartley and Ferrell's cases; it will become apparent that Hartley's case is the more aggravated of the two. Ferrell's prior convictions were for an unarmed robbery in 1984, and participation in a jail riot in 1988. No one was harmed in the jail riot. Conversely, Hartley was previously convicted of manslaughter for killing a 15 year-old girl with a shotgun blast to the face. (Direct Appeal – Vol. 70/p. 2461 - 2463). Just 69 days after being released from prison on the manslaughter charges, Hartley murdered Gino Mayhew. In addition, Hartley was also convicted of two separate armed robberies which occurred 66 days following his release from prison, and 74 days following his release from prison respectively. (Direct Appeal – Vol. 70/p. 2461 - 2463). Furthermore, while minimal mitigation was found, five aggravators were found and affirmed on appeal by this Court: (1) Cold, Calculated, and Premeditated ("CCP"); (2) prior violent felony convictions; (3) committed during the course of a kidnapping; (4) committed to prevent lawful arrest; and (5) committed for pecuniary gain. Finally, the jury voted nine to three (9-3) in its recommendation that Hartley receive the death penalty. Therefore, it is unlikely Hartley would receive a life sentence on retrial of penalty phase. As such, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Hartely's Second Successive Motion for post-conviction relief.

Law of the Case Doctrine

Lastly, Hartley maintains that the law of the case doctrine entitles him to relief, since Ferrell's trial court made a notation in its original sentencing order that "Ferrell was just as culpable as the shooter." (IB/p. 28; Ferrell, 686 So. 2d at 1327). Hartley cites to Florida Dept. of Trans. v. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 2001), Greene v. Massey, 384 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1980), and Strazzulla v. Hendrick, 177 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1965), which all stand for the legal propositions that trial courts cannot overrule an appellate court on a matter already determined, and that all points of law which have been adjudicated cannot be revisited at a later proceeding. (IB/p. 2-3). Nevertheless, this argument fails for two reasons. First, while both Hartley and Ferrell were guilty of first-degree murder, there is no dispute that Hartley was the triggerman. Second, when this Court granted a new penalty phase to Ferrell it effectively vacated the original sentencing order entered in Ferrell's original sentence of death. See Ferrell v. State, 29 So. 3d 959, 984 -988 (2010). Therefore, Hartley is not entitled to any relief via law of the case.

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's order denying Hartley's Second Successive Motion for post-conviction relief.